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INTRODUCTION

This is a transcription of a taped interview, one of a
series conducted by Robert G. Porter, who retired from

the U. S. Food and Drug Administration in 1977.

The interviews were held with retired F.D.A, employees

whose recollections may serve to enrich the written record.
It is hoped that these narratives of things past will serve
as source material for present and future researchers; that
the stories of important accomplishments, interesting events,
and distinguished leaders will find a place in training and
orientation of néw employees, and may be useful to enhance
the morale of the organization; and finally, that they will
be of value to Dr. James Harvey Young in the writing of the
history of the Food and Drug Administration.

The tapes and transcriptions will become a part of the
collection of the National Library of Medicine and copies of
the transcriptions will be placed in the Library of Emory

University.
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P. - This is a recording of an interview with Edwin C. Boudreaux.

Mr. Boudreaux retired as Director of the New Orleans
District in 1965. He started with the Food and. Drug
Administration in 1922. The interview is being held at
Mr. Boudreaux's home in — on May 15,
1978. My name is Bob Porter of the Food and Drug Adminis-
tration. Now, Mr. Boudreaux, I wanted to get that on

the tape so everybody would know who you were. 1 know
you have some ideas and subjects you'd like to talk about
and I'm just going to turn it over to you.

When T received my appointment notice from Robert S.
Hollingshead, Chief of the New Orleans Station for the
Bureau of Chemistry, I was teaching high school at
Jennings, Louisiana. It was very fortunate--it was near
the end of the term, and I was not certain whether I

was going to teach another year. 1 was only teatrhing
becausé-when my position was terminated by reduction-in-
force at Penick & Ford about a year before, I wds unable

to secure an appointment as a chemist. I attempted to

- go back to my first employer, Parke Davis & Company, in

Detroit, but apparently, like alot of firms, they do not
like to‘rehire pecple they had in the past. I had already
married when I received my notice of appointment. I had
applied for a position the year before, but because of
lack of funds, positions could not be filled until May,

1922. I received permission to leave my teaching position




before the end of the term, and I reported on May 8,
1922.

At that time I had already been married. My wife
was pregnant and we were glad to get back into the chemi~
cal field. Before I reported for duty, I had no idea
what the nature of the work would be.

Food and Drug wasn't very well known. Of course, it didn't
exist then under that name. .

That's right. I &idn't even know what my salary was to

be. The salary was $1,620 a year with a $20 a month

bonus then given to all government employees because
government salaries lagged far behind those of commercial
firms.

About two years later I was given an appointment
at $1,860 which was the same amount of money but the bonus
was recognized.

Early in 1924 T was offered an appointment as Assistant
State Chemist of Louisiana at $2,400 a year. I had pre-
viously applied for a job with the state at the same time
I had submitted my federal application. Apparently, they
had learned something about what type of work I was doing
and were very anxious to have me transfer to them. I
was cautious about the matter. I wrote to Dr. R. E.
Doolittle,Chief of Central District at the time. He
referred the letter to Dr. W. W. Skinner who apparently

was in charge of scientific personnel. I had a long



P.

B.

letter from Skinner telling me that they were in the
process of reevaluating federal positions and that I
could probably look forward to the same salary in the
near future. This was very fortunate, because in the
fall of '24, the then Chief, Albert Burns, became ill.
He died a year later. From the time he became ill I was
placed in charge of the New Orleans station.

How big was the station when you reported for duty?
Well, the station ran about 10 to 12 and stayed that

way until the '30's.

1 see.

Now in 1928 when we were reorganized into the Food, Drug
and Insecticide Administration, we acquired responsibility
for enforcing several additional laws. One was a naval
stores act and one was an insecticide/fungicide law.

We had transferred to us three naval stores inspectors
who did service inspection ©of rosin and turpentine.
There also was a regulatory section and in connection
with the grading of }osin, we developed a case on this
basis and it was tried in Biloxi. I was placed on the
withess stand and the attorney for the defense tried to
cloud the issue by saying that I was from Louisiana;
naturally I was prejudicedagainst Mississippi firms.

The judge promptly set him up. We won the case.

- What was the matter with the rosin?

- It was misgraded.




. P. - Oh, was that a grading act?

B. - Yes. The law was a grading act but it had a r:gulatory
feature to it.

P. - Now I'm sure you had some interesting experiences back
there in the early '20's.

B. - Well, one of the interesting experiences that I had was
my first radio talk, which was over station WWL. Studios
at that time were on the Loyola-University campus. I
had been asked by the Federal Business Association to
make a talk. Well, naturally I utilized some of the
material from the talks that W. R. M. Wharton had made
over network radio. But, I think that I was one of the
earlier people to go on radio in the administration.

. P. - What year was that? Do you remember?

B. - About 1928. Later I did a series every two weeks in the
30's sponsored by the Federal Business Association. I
can recall one talk on the same station involving the
deficiencies of the old Food and Drug Law. We were doing
a great deal of educational work to let the public¢ know
the deficiencies of the act ahd the need for a new law.
Sometime prior to that we had investigated the Crazy
Water Company of Mineral Wells, Texas. They had packaged
the crystals which were supposed to be manufactured
from--by evaporating mineral water crystals. Inspector
Eggerton did some incognito work--he was the Dallas

. Resident Inspector--ascertained that they were buying




huge gquantities of glaubers salt and packaged them as Crazy

Water Crystals. Well, I didn't in my talk refer to
Crazy Water Crystals by name; we were very careful about
using brand names in illustrating deficiencies.. But

I did mention it as a horse laxative. In the studio
there was a local representative of the firm who was
carefully listening to what I was saying in hopes of
possibly finding something to £rip me up on. These
radio talks were somewhat the beginning of our educational
work. We rapidly made good contacts with the press, we
began to have tours through our laboratories, we had

a chamber of horrors exhibit to illustrate the defi-
ciencies of the law, a number of talks were made to
organizations in New Orleans. I remember one was made
in Birmingham and sponsored by the City Health Deépart-
ment. I recall particularly Birmingham because the City
Health officer there was a cousin of Dr. Oscar Dowling,
the famous health officer of Louisiana. Later on we
began to have regular tours over the years through the
laboratory. A hospital where my daughter was employed
asked to have their basic students visit the laboratory
and that became an annual part of their gstudies. As this
caught on other nursing schools visited the laboratory.
We had exhibits and we had chemists explain the work of

FDA and then on top of that in the '40's we began to have




. Open houses. They would set up exhibits for those who cared
to visit. We had an open house as I recall about the time
of the 50th anniversary of the law.

P. - Yes. I think I was in Chicago then, and we hadAone of those.
B. - On the day at the time the celebration was held, Inspector
Eggerton and I were in Washington at the big celebration
there, but we had a celebration here and Chief Chemist
Duggan represented me. We had as a speaker a Judge Wayne
Borah who had, from a District Judge, gone to the
Appeals Court. Notables were present such as the Post-
master and others here.
P. - Was it B-0-R-A-H.
B. - Yes. He was related to the famous Senator Borah. It

. so happened that Judge Borah was born in the same town
in Louisiana that my mother grew up and she knew him as
a baby. Judge Borah was indeed a friend of FDA. He was
the Assistant United States Attorney handling our cases
at one time and then became District Attorney and later a
Judge. We did not win every case held before him, but we
did exceedingly well. He was often quite complimentary
from the bench as to the preparation that FDA made for
its cases. If you cut that off, we can talk a little bit
and see what else you want.

P. - Let me leave it on a minute, because there is something
I want to ask you. Was the office at that time in the

. same Custom house that it is now?




The office was in the custom house when I reported for duty.
Tell me, isn't that quite a historical building?

It is. It goes back many years.

I wonder how far. Do you know that?

I wouldn't have.any idea,

That's such an interesting building--

That could be probably obtained from GSA. But, at the

time I reported our office was in Room 225 where there

now is a laboratory and the laboratory was in 226. As

we grew in numbers, particularly with the advent of

seafood and increasing the regulatory staff, we acquired
several times our original space.

I can imagine you took over a big part of that floor before
you were through, didn't you? BAnd then some.

Well I would say no we didn‘t, just that floor. Anyway
after I retired they acquired additional space, some of

it downstairs, but an additional space on the second floor.
Mr. Boudreaux, why don't you tell me something about Dr.
Wiley and Walter G. Campbell and some of the early heads

of the organization.-’_

Well, when I reported for duty, Dr. Carl Alsberg had re-
tired and Walter G. Campbell was acting Chief of the Bureau
of Chemistry. About 1925 Dr. Charles A. Browne became the
Chief of the Bureau of Chemistry and Mr. Campbell became
Head of the Regulatory Work for the Department. Now I

recall that Mr. Campbell was the first Chief Inspector
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under Dr. Wiley.

And, you've met Dr. Wiley?

I saw Dr. Wiley. I was in a picture with him at an AOAC
meeting, I think in '25, and then there was a banquet in
his honor at the Cosmos Club. I may have shaken hands
with him or something--my recollection is ﬁot clear.

What kind of an impression did you get? What kind of a
man was he? ‘

Well, it was difficult then. Of course, he was rather
elderly then, but he was quite popular in spite of some

of the criticism that he made.

He was unhappy with some of the things that happened.

The people I remember in headquarters was Paul Dunbar. I
remember him gquite well.

Well, tell me about him.

Well, he was a very interesting man, easy to talk to.

He was a chemist wasn't he?

He was a chemist. He visited New Orleans many times. At
the time I was appointed, according to some of the corres-
pondence I have, Dr. Dunbar expressed gratitude that I |
was from New Orleans--I mean from Louisiana. At that time
it was very difficult to retain people from other parts

of the country in New Orleans.

I wonder why.

Because the climate--there was no air conditioning. There
was alot of misleading ideas about New Orleans being a

sort of a sic¢kly place or something like that. 2And I




can recall that we had two inspectors, John Breckenridge
and George Eigenberger, who during the summer, one or the
other was given temporary duty at one of the northern
central district stations! Because, they were from that
part of the country. Eigenberger was from Wisconsin and
I'm not sure Breckenridge may have been from Minnesota,
because when he retired he went back to Minnesota and

at the time of his death, he was working in a drug store.
At the time I reported there was a man named Reggie Smith
who was a third inspector, but he resigned shortly after
I came so0 I do not have any great impressions about him.
Very interesting man named John L. Ahern was transferred
to New Orleans in the late '20's and remained here until
the early '30's and returned to St. Louis. Bryan L.
Eggerton was the man that replaced him.

I remember Bryan, I didn't really know him well but I
met him.

Among the people in Washington that I knew well was Dr.
Elliott. I think he-handled most of the legal work at
that time and then there was Dr. Taylor in charge of
imports.

How many people were there in Washington kind of around
the Commissioner?

I don't have any idea.

It was just a handful, wasn't it?

Yes. Well, Fred Linton, not a scientist, but he was a




P.

fiscal man. I can recall that he had a reputation of
being a little tight with money. FDA might have fared

a little better financially.

It seems like they were always pretty tight witﬁ money

in the early days.‘

Yes, that's right. I'm trying to think of somebpdy else

I knew in Washington. Another was Charlie Crawford.

When did he come in the picture?

Well, Charlie Crawford had been a chemist in New Orleans,
prior to that a chemist in Chicago, and sometime prior to
my appointment had been transferred to Washington.

Now was that a scientist or was that in the administration?
It was in the administration--one of the assistants to

Mr. Campbell.

Did you know Crawford well?

Quite well.

You know I heard a story about Crawford that you might

be able to verify. I understand he had some sort of a
blood disease and that Henry Welch had prepared some serums
or something from ﬁis blood. Have you ever heard a story
like that?

I knew Charlie Crawford worked very hard during the '30's.
Most of his time was devoted to work on the proposed new

Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, and he became ill and was

10
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down in Texas for awhile to regain his health, which ap-

parently he did. I do know that--what is this other
guy's name--

Welch.

Welch, who was in charge of antibiotic testing was quite
frequently giving him antibiotics. I understood he did
die of a blood disease.

I don't remember and I just thdught~-this story was that
Henry Welch somehow took, made cultures or something and
used it in treating him.

Yes, Henry Welch, of course, I don't know.

Yes.

He was an ambitious guy. This is not going to be recorded
is it?

Yes, it's being recorded. Go ahead and talk about him. We
all knoﬁ about him. Unless you don't want to. Don't say
anything you don't want to say, but it doesn't hurt to

say these things.

I can recall that after, I think it was late in '59, - that
every district director had to be interviewed by a épecial
committee. At a different location, and I and

others went to Columbus, Ohio. There was somebody with

a medical school there on the committee. Somebody I

think from the FBI, and we were asked all kinds of gues-
tions. Did we know about cases of bribes, things of that
kind. All seeming to be the result of some question that

had come up about Dr. Welch.

11
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. P. - This was before there was public information about the

problem?
Yes. I remember I had just recovered from a serious bout
with rheumatoid arthritis, but I went in. I didn't have
to stay in very long.
I heard another story--Sam Fine said when he was inter-
viewed by this group they actually took him into a vacant
building somewhere to interview him under very kind of--
at least peculiar circumstances. Did anything like that
occur to you?
No, this was in a room in the Ohio Medical School. Now
there were about three places I think that these inter-
views were held. But, prior to that, every district
chief and other people in certain grades were regquired
to file a financial statement.
And, after that, almost everybody had to!l
Well, it was like Internal Revenue. I happened to have a
son-in-law working in Internal Revenue--I have a daughter
now who is with Internal Revenue. They have to be.

Do you want something on central district?
Yes, I'd like to.
Well, when I reported for duty, Dr. Roscoe E. Doolittle
was Chief of Central District. I think previously he may
have been either Chief of Eastern District or Chief of

the New York laboratory. Among his assistants was Harry

Walters who was something like a Chief Inspector--a similar

position to what Simmons had--Simmons I think succeeded

him. Then there was Edward Goodnow who was Dr. Doolittle's

12




immediate assistant in the Central District. There were

others, of course. The Chicago station at that time was
the largest station. Dr. Arthur E. Paul, as I remember,
was first Chief Chemist at the Chicago station and then
Chief and then later Assistant Chief, Central District.
Dr. Doolittle died shortly after he and I made a trip to

a meeting in Mobile. He was succeeded by Dr. George W.
Hoover, who had been at one time Chief of the Chicago
station. It is my recollection that Dr. Hoover may have
been stationed, moved to Washington for a‘short‘time as
Head of the Drug Division and then returned to Chicago

as Chief. When Dr. Hoover, I believe, was moved back to
Washington -- may have left the service, I'm not sure --
Edward Goodnéw became Acting Chief. Later, about 1929,

as best as I can recall, J. 0. Clarke was moved from Chief
of New York station to Chief of Central District. Mr.
Goodnow later retired and Dr. Arthur Paul became £he
Assistant Chief of Central District. J. O. Clarke, when

I first knew J. 0. Clarke, he was Chief of Atlanta District
-- Atlanta station in those days. We didn't call them dis-
tricts until the 'S0's. Now I'm trying to recall some

of the people who were chiefs of the other statidns in

the Central District. Ernest Smith was Chief of 'St. Llouis
at that time. Later I think --

Do you know any little kind of incidents or episodes about

these people?

13 |




B. - I know that Dr. Doolittle was a kindly, gentle person.

I can remember at one conference that -- usually our con~-
ferences in Chicago followed District Chief conferences
in Washington. I'm not sure what the problem was. I
may have been our finances in the district, but Dr. Doolittle
was on the verge of tears. I never knew a more human per-
son than Dr. Doolittle.

Ed éoodnow_wés a verj efficient man. He handled
most of the casé work. The case work was sent to Central
District and thén'to Washington, and as 1 remember it was
-his job. ‘But, ﬁeﬂwas é.vefy kind man. One thinb 1
remémber about him that helwore a touéee because I made
a trip with him at one time. We shared a room together.
My opinion is tha; ie‘was greatly disappointed that he
was not made Chief of Central District.

P. - Was that at the time that J. 0. Clarke --

B. - At‘;he timeqof J. 0. Clarke. I can remember that Mr. Goodnow
-- we had a ¢ onference after J. O. Clarke was there -- came
over to see me and sat down and talked to me and gave me some
advice becéuse Igﬁésﬁgfill Acting Chief. It was good advice.
I think J. O. Cla}ke, when he hit Chicago, decided he was going
to end this‘Acting Chief business thgt I and Bill Hartigan
were involved in because it wasn't long before I received
a promotion that bridged the gap to the Station Chief.

I think heArepo;ted in '29, and I was made Chief in

Septembe:,Al930.'”
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P. - What was the good advice that Goodnow gave you?

B. - Well, he told me to speék up. I was suppose to be one
of the younger men in thoée days, and naturally_sometime
I felt that some people talked too much. I spoke when
I had to. But, I corresponded with Goodnow after he
retired. As I recall, he went back to his home in
Massachusetts. I don't remember what place.

Now, I can recall somethiﬁg about some of the Chiefs
of Central bistrict stations. I knew that Bill Hartigan
was an acting Chief before they made him Chief. While
he was in Kansas City, the state of Louisiana tried to
hire him away from Bureau of Chemistry, but he didn't
take it.

P. - Now he'd been an inspector, if I recall.

B. - He'd been an inspector. He'd been an inspector in New
Orleans before my time._ They did not have a laboratory
in Kansas City at first, but about --

Now at Minneapolis, Channing W. Harrison was Chief.

P. - I've heard of him. -—

B. - Thére is some recollection that Harrison may have been the
Chief of the Laboratory down here before stations. During
the Roosevelt administration he was called to Washington
on some matter.

P. - But, he was a southerner.

B. - I think he was.

P. - I've heard he was sort of a little bit of a Kentucky‘

Colonel type man.
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B, - I don't remember who was chief in Cincinnati; there was a

man by the name of Forbes there, I'm not sure if he was
Chief when I came in, but I know that Harry Garrett was
Chief -- I mean Cincinnati --. Did I memtion Ernest Smith
being Chief of St. Louis?

Yes, you mentioned that.

Well, let's see, Hoover -- Dr. Hoover was Chief Bf Chicago
when I first -- he was a medical doctor when I first
reported, and he wasifucceeded by -- when first ﬁoved to
Washington, by Dr. g;fyur E. Paul who became Ass?stant Chief

of the District under-J. 0. Clarke.

-What kind of a guy was J. 0. Clarke?

Fine guy --

He gave you your promotion, didn't he? (Laughter)

-y

I mean I got along tremendously with J. 0. Clarke; he made
no secret about praising the New Orleans Station; and,

of course, I first met J. O. Clarke at an AOAc.Méeting

in about 1925. He was at Atlanta -- h;lwas Chief of
Atlanta Station, J. 0. Clarke was quite a chemist; he

kept up with the AOAC and the type of work he did throughout
his career. At one time we had research going on down

here during the time that Duggan was the chemist, and
Duggah was doing the work more or less under the direction
of Clarke. Clarke was a fellow -- a real southexmer -- he
used to like to come out to dinner because my mother was
living and she really knew how to cook some of hip southern

favorites. ’
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How come we had so many southerners in Food and Drug
in those days? It seems to me like they were all
southerners.

Well maybe ones that I remember!

Maybe so.

There were plenty of others.

The man who~-Robert Hollinshead was not a southerner.
tie was chief when I reported and he succeeded Frank
Liepsner who was going to be transferred to Cincinnati
District as Chief because I don't think he liked it here.

But, strangely enough, when the owner of an analytic

‘consulting and analytical laboraty died, Liepsner

through some other financial backing began to run that
laboratory. I owe my connection with FDA to Frank
Liepsner becuase he was President of the American Chemical
Society. When my job ran out at Penick and Ford--we had

a big staff at Penick and Ford. We even had Dr. Fitz Zerban
the noted sugar chemist doing research. MQ imnediate boss
was Dr. William L. Owen, who was both a chemist

and a bacteriologist who was a Heidelburg graduate.
Finally, Penick and Ford merged with some firm in Cedar
Rapids (Corn syrup) and there was some difficulty in the
syrup market because of the drop in the price of sugar.

So we began to be dropped one by one until Penick and Ford

had very few chemists.
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Later Dr. Owen left and went back to LSU to teach
bacteriology. Then later he set up his own consulting
business.

Tell me something about Seafood Service, Mr. Bouareaux.
Some of your early experiences in that.

Well, the Seafood Service actually came about as a result
of terrific numbers of seizures of canned shrimp. As I
have stated in my previous report, it was not unusual

for inspectors to find decomposed shrimp.

Finally we devised organoleptic methods by making authentic
packs. I can remember that we were seizing so much shrimp
the administration became a little worried and so analyst
N. E. Freeman who is now deceased and I were called up and
we had to examine many cans of shrimp with Dr. Hunter,
Larry Strasburger and possibly others. It was determined
we were all checking out very well. So, we came back and
we kept sampling shipments throughout the country making
more seizures. This, of course, caused the packers to

ask their Congressman- to pass some form of legislation
that would give some relief. This legislation was the
Seafood Amendment, Section 10A of the Food and Drug

Act. I can remember that when they found out that it

was not going to be a rubber stamp type of inspection that
they attempted to have the Act repealed.

Oh. Now you were teiling me some about a meeting that you

went to with Dr. Hunter.

18

BT I P O




B. - I recall a meeting in Biloxi that I attended with Dr.

P.

B.

Hunter. I think it was before--I'm not sufe whether it
was before or after seafood was instituted. 1In any event
we first met with Senator Pat Harrison who was guite cor-
dial to us, but when the meeting was held and the packers
began to air their complaints, the Senatorsremarks con-
cerning FDA were not quite——no? very complimentary.
But, he was one uf the famous senators of the times.
The packers were his constituents.
Another similar recollection was during the early '40's
in the war, we worked closely with Jacob Forbes who was
head of the Louisiana Food and Drug Section of the State
Board of Health. There were many warehouses that were
very filthy and insanitary. We had a very good news con-
tact resulting in many front page stories. Some of the
warehouse people got in touch with Congressman Hebert and
he protested to Mr. Campbell. Mr. Campbell wrote me a
letter which did not. criticize my action, did not tell
us to stop, but said I promised to write you a letter,
and I did. So that meant we should continue, but in time
these warehouses knew that what we did was for their bene-
fit because quite a few complimented us because they were
saving so nuch from rodent, insect losses and so on.

Now among the personal recollections I have is that
during 1954, I think, Charles Crawford visited New Ofleans.

Suddenly the subject came about would I go to St. Louis.

19




. I soon learned that this desire to have me transferred
to St. Louis did not originate with Crawford, but with
somebody in the Federal Security Administration. I told
Crawford that my doctor thought my health was such that
the change probably wouldn't benefit me. He said, "Well,
get your doctor to write a letter." My doctor wrote him
a letter and stated that he felt I had rheumatoid arthri-
tis which proved to be true. é few years later I was on
leave for 9 months in an acute stage of it. Anyway I
never transferred. This may seem very strange that
probably I have the record as Head of a station and dis-
trict as having been in one place my entire career.

P. - You were here your entire career from --

o -

P. - You know talking about the shrimp industry, wasn't there

A total of 43 years +.

sort of a, well maybe a disagreement or controvexrsy that
arose kind of between you and Wendell Vincent in the '40's
when alot of shrimp was being sampled and seized wup there.

B. - I recall nothing of the kind.

el
I

Is that right.

B. - I can recall that when Wendell Vincent, I believe he was
Chief of the Western District at the time, he and Dunbar
visited New Orleans and I think they visited some shrimp
plants because the salmon industry at that time was con-

sidering seafood inspection.

‘II' P. - I see.

20
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Which never materialized. Wendell Vincent and I were al-
ways good friends.

Were you. I really thought he was a great man..

I did. I did.

Well, I guess I misunderstood but I--we used to sample
alot of shrimp up there without your having reported it
out to us. I'm talking about in the '40's.

Well, in the 40's, Vincent was back in Denver.

He was in Denver.

I don't recall anything like that.

I didn't know.

Under the old law we could not prosecute because of false
and misleading therapeutic claims on drugs. We had to
prove fraud. I remember there was a contested case in
Pensacola. I don't remember the name. I know that

George -Eigenberger was there and he handled alot of the
work during the trial. We won that case.

This was a fraud case?

Yes. We usually ﬁad”;o prove fraud by say a prior seizure
or by having had a prior hearing in which we Qarned-the
manufacturer. I know there was a case--and I dam't remem-=
ber what case it was--in Dalias in 1936. Judge Atwell
was the judge. We thought we were going to have to put

a witness on to testify that a hearing had been--prior
hearing had been held. It sb happened that because of
circumstances in my family I was unable to go so Mrs.

Gladys Barbier the Chief Clerk could testify that the
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hearing had been held. So she went up to Dallas. fThe

case was prolonged to a point where she had to buy extra
clothing. She and some inspectors were up there. I
think Johnny Breckenridge was one of the inspectors and
I believe that Fred Brock,the State Fcod and Drug Inspector,
who later became Chief of the State Food and Drug work,
and then later Chief of the Feed Control Service in
Texas, were the witnesses. Bué, the case was prolonged.
We won the case and never had to put on any evidence to
show fraud. Judge Atwell, by his own self, peculiar judge,
but he went along with us at that time.

I can remember the excellent cooperation that we had
particularly in Texas where we only had 3 inspectors.
But we'd get an assignment to collect a sample in El Paso that-
was further from New Orleans than Washington, D.C. You
could always ask the state--and I remember a case where
the Chief Inspector, I think his last name was Johnson,
of the State Food and Drug Office. He went down personally
and collected the samples at El Paso for us.
You know when I came into Denver we had inherited west
Texas.
Well, you had El Paso first and then later west Texas from
the panhandle on down.
We still only had a handful of inspectors--

But you were closer.
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. P. - Particulary El1 Paso~-the city helped--they collected
our samples.
. B. - Well, we also had excellent cooperation from Customs
along the border. Quite often we could depend oh them
to make certain examinations for us. In fact, during the
black heart pineappledeal, they were very helpful to us.
That was in later years. During Moses time in Houston.
P. - That was during my time in El Paso, too. I cut a many
a pineapple in the custom shed in El Paso.
B. - I guess you recall reading where during the war one of
the grapefruit juice canneries received an excellent award
from the Army the same day that we got an injunction against
them--insanitary operations and the use of bad fruit.
. P. - Wasn't there a big citrus fruit--wasn't there a freeze
that gave you lots of problems in citrus.
B. — That is true. I mentioned that. I think that occurred
--there were two freezes—-one in December'29 and one in
January '30. That was a time that we sent an inspector
down there and he organized state people. He explained
to the packers--~grapefruit shippers--the provisions of
the law and it prevented the shipment of many freeze damaged
fruit.
P. - Do you remember what year that was?
B. - That was '29 I think. It's in my report--two places '29
and '30.

P- - Oh-
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. B. - And, of course, later on we had freezes, and we found

that they had learned their lesson. And, of course,.
the state had learned how to take care of those type of
things, preventive measures. |
I can remember--I don't know--it may not have been
Texas. I think it was oranges. We were unable to cover all
the shipments so I can recall a heélth officer in Mississippi
collected samples for us. That was the kind of cooperation
we could get. We could never have done the work with three
inspectors which we had most of the time during the '20's.
P. - You know, you mentioned you only had three inspectors
and this was a big district. How did those inspectors
travel? What kind of work did they do in those days?
. B. - Well, at first they traveled by train. That was the
only means of transportation. They had to carry with them
equipment such as the Gurley balances and sometimes scales

like Steelyards to weigh bulky packages. There was no

such thing as stérting out on Monday morning. You started
out in time to start work on Monday.

P. - Yes. How long were they gone On-these trips?

B. - Oh, they would sometime be gone for a month or more.
Inspector Eigenberger who was stationed at Houston
traveled the whole territory. Later our first automo-
bile was something like a paneled delivery truck.

P. - What year was that, do you remember?
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B. - That was before Eigenberger was transferred to New

Orleans so it must have been about 1927 or something

like that.

About 1927.

And then we began to use automobiles by allowing in-
spectors to use their own cars. Inspector Breckendrige
did alot of his traveling by his own automobile during the
days they began to use automobiles. The first auto-
mobile we had over the panel delivery truck was one that
we inherited from I&F when the insecticide and fungicide
law was placed under our jurisdiction. Then, of course,
the naval stores inspectors. Of course, that was in

the late twenties, around '28. They had cars, too. So
some of those cars came through cur inheriting additional
laws to enforce.

Now did the chemists go out traveling with inspectors

or doing quite a bit of inspection work?

Chemists did do quite a bit of inspection work. 1
personally traveled with Inspector Eigenberger while I was
in the laboratory in 1923. This is largely in ¢onnec-
tion with the matter of water in raw oysters, but I also
gained an insight into factory inspection work with him
as well as collection of samples. I collected

one sample--I think it was canned tomatoes--1 happened

to be on leave at Lake Charles, my hometown, and there

was a shipment of tomatoes to be sampled at De Ridder
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so I went off of leave and went up to De Ridder and
collected the samples. That was the one and only sample
I collected although I did participate with Eigenberger
in some of the work that he did while we traveled on
the oyster deal.

Do you remember what per diem was in those days?

At first when I entered the service per diem was $4.00
a day. And many hotels gave us government rates. I
remember the Stevens Hotel, which is now something
else, in Chicago giving a government rate. I think we
could get a room there for $2.00 when we first stayed
there.

I believe it.

When I retired per diem was $16.00 a day. Then it was
beginning not cover much.

Well, it's about $35.00 now and I don't think it covers

anymore than your $4.00 did in the '20's.

(Note - at this point the tape ran out and Mr. Boudreaux

decided he had nothing to add at that time)
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Edwin C, Doudresux was born Cotebar 31, 1855 ia Iste Cherles,
louisians, Ee attended Louisiarna Stote Uriversity, Datezm Qouge, ,
sajocriag io chemistry, and veceived & bochalor of arts degrez i 1510,

Prior to entering governmeat service he was employed as & chexist
with Parke-Davis and Coxpany, Detroit, Michigan; Penick and Ford, Rew

Orleans, loulsiana; ard Bogalusa Peper Coxpzuy, Dogalusa, louisispa. He
also taught high school 2t Jeaninss, Louisizna, !

Mr, Boudreaux entered the Federal service inm 1922 ss 2 chemist

with the New Orleans Station of the Bureau of Cheuistry of the Department
. of Agriculture, At the time herreporl:ed to duty there was a total of

10 exployees. This is contrasted to its present staffing, including
vacaucies, of & tozal of 86. Due to the serious iliness of the Chief of
Station, he becz_tme Acting Chief of the New Orleans Scation in 1924 and
headed the st2tiom under this title untfl 1930, when ke was prosoted to
Chief of Station. Promotions in grade with title chargas to Chief of the
District, thenm Director of the District cccurred in ensuizy years,

As head of the Few Orleans 'Ststic::, later the Kew Orlezns District,
Mr. Boudresux had respozxsibility for enforcement of the Federal Fopd,
Drug, and Cosmetic Act and related lavs in the stotes of Texas, Loulsiana,
Mississippl, and Algbaza, until estcblishment of the Dallas Distriet
early ip 1961 reduced the New Orleans District arca tc che ctates ¢f

. Louisiens, Mississippi, and Alabaza.
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Early in his career, Mr. Boudro2ux'swork cdealt with scafood. Eo
participated in studies on the adulteration of oysters with water, and
later his attention vas davoted to the problem of decozposition in
shrizp and the establislment of the Seafood Inspection Service uvader
the amendnent of 1934. He worked with the late Coamissioner Craviord

- and Dr. Albert C. Hunter that suzmar in preparation of regulations for

setting up Seafood Inspection Service, which service was extecded to

" both canned shrimp and canned oysters, and lasted until 8 few years ngo;

Asong other problems which engaged his attention were serious problems

dealing with pesticides, Hoxsey Cancer Clinic, the sanitation of crude
vegetable oil mills, sanitation of rice wills, and wany other atters of
particular wgraphical"hportmc to the Now Crleans District. The

wly

first injunction under the Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act was brought |

- agaiust @ fresh crabueat packer located at New Orleans., Complex

problems resulting from {uportation of foods and drugs through the

ocean ports of Rew Orleans and Houstom, 8% woll as the border ports in

‘Texss, have sngaged bis attention,

Among the natiocwide investigations participated in by the Now
Orleans office under the direction of Mr. Boudreaux wers the Giuger Jake,
Elixir Sulfanilanide, and the Thalidontad2° 48°tRe case of Ginger Jake,

- this occurred during Prohibition. Some individuals deprived of the usual

alcoholic beverages turned to the gluger extract. The firm, with mwo
prinsiples and utter disregard of the health of those consuming the

- subgtitute beverage, made up thelr own version of ginger extract which

contained the {ngredient tricresyl phosphate. This apparently was put




. \ 3.
in in order to deceive the chemists but the ingenious FDA chexists
diccoversd this was the ingredient couslug widaspread paralysis cong
the irdibers of the fake ginger extroct. EBlixir Sulfanilamido wps a
1iquid sulfse drug, wvhich had been widely distributed in the fall of 1937
without prior testing for safaty by the mausufacturer. ‘ (The old 1905
Food and Drug Law contained mo pretesting requirement.) This preparation
contained diethylena gliycol zs & vehicle., Diethylene glycol is & deadly
poison. Many deaths occurred over the country before the drug céuld be
recoved from drug stores, physicians, patients, etc., by the comdbined .
efforts of federal, state, and local officials, Traglcally many of
thess deaths occurred in Missiecsippl, one of the states covered By the
New Orleans office. HNew Orlesns mevspepers in October 1937 csrried

. many headline stories con:&ninz the tragic events and deacribed the
work of the cozbined fosuln:o:y agencies in removing the drug to prevent
further deaths. Every able~bodied maen, including all availcble sesfood
inspectors; vers utilized to_rﬁn down every possible bottle of the drug.
The Thalidomide incident is go recent, the doteils are still clesrly
Tecalled by all.  Many other similar natiomwide emergency investigetions

were participated in by the District. - -

v .- Over the ysars he has presanted- papers and talks before wmahy

orgsnizstions. These include mational and regionsl food, feed, apd
drug officials, trade associstions, clubg, university groups, scientific
organizations, state pharmacgutical associatfons, and state medical

societics. He gave radio talks as early as 1929 and has appeared on

. television programs. _ ‘ : e
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Taroughout his carcer My, Boudresus has believed 4a the velue of
effoctive cooperative relationships betveen FPA and state and logal
officials, Over the years he has counted rany closa friends cmong
officiels io the territory covered by the lew Orlears Dist‘ric::, g5 well
as officials froao other states. The l7th Anzual Confercuce of the Food'
and Drug Officials of the Southerm States keld in Bilozi, dcosisoippl
in April 1965 dedicated its meeting inm honor of Mr. Boudreaux, A: tha
banquat on April 27, he was presented with & handsocaly framed certificete
by the Association in ;:ecognition of bis valucble services &5 a r¢gula:c_ry
officiaf, advisor, and perscual friead toAau recbers and azsociate
weubers of the Assoclation. Ia 1955 Mr. Boudreaux was cne of the
orgsnizors of the highly ;uccesaful Gatlirburg, Tennessse Conference
of Fae State and Federal Food and Prug Officials. At the 10th Anzual
Meeting held in August 1965 he m highly praised for his continued

~ efforts on behalf of this group., Othoer og=nizations honoringlMr. Bowdreaux

at thelr meetings during recent months were the Mississippi State
Fharmaceutical Assoc!.atién. Msoc-iaticn of Southern Feed, Fertilizer, and

Pesticide Control Officiale, and the Third District Fecting of the

 Eational Association of Boards of Phammacy ard American Association of

Colleg2s of Pharmacy.
‘Boudreaux is & devout Catholic and attends St. James Major Church R

in the CGentilly area of New Orleans. FHe g a pazber of the Holy Name
Boclety., ils 1s an honorary 31d Degree mecber of the 2925 Council of

the Xnights of Coluxbus and {3 slso an konorary member of the Bienville




Asgcmbly, 4th Degres R. of €. EHe joired the inights of Columbus in
1917 while @ studcnt 8t loulslara State University, BEatoa Bouzs, For
some yaars he was very active in the woerk of Council 714, Wew Orlecns,
Llouigiana, In 1945 ho was oze of the orsenizors of tho Gentilly
Council, one of the fixst neighborbood councils of the K. of C. in -
¥ew Orleans. Hd was Depury Graxd Enight of that couccil for the fipst
two yasrs and hald luportant committee posts.

During ons of the years that FDA was a burcau in the U. 5.
Department of Agriculture he wos President of tke USPA Club. EHe has °
wacy friends {n that deparitment, as well asz in othor government agencles,
acd has worked closely with ail fedcral agencies on mutual problems.
In the sarly 1920's be was & mexber of the Executive Comxmittez of the~
Federal Business Asgociation, which was then conéemed with the sniany
proble;an following World War X, Nr. Boudreaux 1s a mexber of tha New
Orleans Acadeny of Science and served as vlce-presiden; of this -
organfzation in 1957-58., He i{s & member of the Bound Table Club bf
Rew Orloans snd also & membexr of the Alpha Chi Sigaa Professtomal
Chemistzry Fraternity. -

ﬁbpdreau is married to Anra Rlizabeth Jardine of Lake Charles,
louisiana, Hisg 90-ycui old mthef, Mrs, Amslias Bowdreaux, makes her
hooe with them. BRis father and his two brothers and tuc sistere are
deacased. The Boudreaux's have five children, all college gradustes. ]

" B&in Cep Jrs, i3 general sales mapager of tha Polar Boy Ice Company -
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of Atlaznta, Georzia, Dr. Jases L. Boudreaux is a Urologist with the
Lafayette 2edical and Surgical Group, lafayette. Gordon .y, Boudrpaux
is a chenist with the Southern Urili{zstion amt Resecarch and Developoent
Pivislon Lsboratories, VU.S.D.,A., Kow Orlezzs, La. OCna dacghter, Mrs.
flaine A. Brodtmann, 1s an accountant with the Culf Coast Shipping
Corporation, Kew Orleans. Apother daughter, Yvoons E. Eoudrecau=, is
Registrar, School of Nursing, Hotel Dieu, New Orleans, The Boudreaux's

have nins grandchildrsn.
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THE SEAFOOD INSPECTION SERVICE

1224

rt

r 26ET Comuiled bu

Edwin C. Boudreaux

The first attempt to commercially can shrimp was made by George W.
Dunbar in 1867. By 1875, he perfected his procedure. In those days,
lids of cans had to be hand scldered, a slow procedure compared to
machine capping of lids which is now practiced. By 1880, a substantial
amount of commercially canned shrimp was packed by & number of canneries.

Shrimp, unlike other shellfish such as crabs and lobsters, die in
the net or shortly after being taken out of the water. Because of the
warm weather conditions during most of the packing season, spoilage soon
takes place unless the shrimp are promptly refrigerated and kept so until
unloaded at the processing plant.

Jt is not known what regulatory attention was paid to the problem of
decomposition, or insanitary handling prior to the late twentigs and
early thirties when the New Orleans Station inspectors began reporting
sericusly violative conditions.

Any shed, shack or dilapidated building that could house, hold &
minimum of relatively light equipment, could be and was used as a shrimp
cannery. No thought was given to handling the product in a building that
was tight, screened or rodent and insect proof. With the exception of
processing retorts, all of the equipment in the plant that could possibly
be constructed of wood was so constructed. The operators of the plant
had little or no conception of the meaning of the word sanitation. Wooden
picking tables soaked up the slime and juice from the shrimp and held
this material rotting in their pores. Wooden blanching tanks acted as a
foci for contamination. Floors, tables and other regquipment were infre-
guently rinsed off with water which was quite often obtained from the
bayous, lakes and bays which, in themselves, were most likely heavily
polluted.

Raw materials furnished the canneries at times was putrid and decomposed
to such an extent that fly maggots had to be shaken or washed off before
pickers would remove shells. The shells were irregularly removed from the
canneries after beling thrown on the floors to rot further and act as

breeding places for insects. It was not unusual to see workers in picking
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rooms standing above their knees in a mass of decomposed hulls with maggots
crawling on their bodies. Non-expeditious handling of sound fresh shrimp
at times brought to some canneries often decomposed befores they could be
processed. Shrimp were often picked intoc cups which were infreguently
washed and encrusted with decomposed material. Freguently, shrimp which
had been picked were allowed to remain in large holding receptacles with-
out refrigeration so long that they decomposed in the canneries.

Processing was uncontrolled. Operators retorted the canned shrimp
for varying periods of time. Retorts were manually operated. Operators
who thought they were processing for a certain length of time and temperature,
had no assurance that such was the case because of lack of eguipment on
retorts.

dthat was done about these terrible conditions? Samples of the canned
shrimp were examined in the New Orleans Station Laboratory but in most
instances it was impossible with information then available to associate
odors noted in the cans with the guality of the raw material. Early in
the fall of 1930, FDA began to formulate and carry out plans for a ésries
of experimental packs. The hen who participated in the preparation of
these packs were Dr. Albert Hunter, Mr. Linden, and L. W. Strasburger of
the Washington Staff Laboratory, and N. E. Freeman and E. C. Bopdreaux
of New Orleans.

The first pack, a small one, was prepared by Strasburger apd Ralph L.
Horst, New Orleans Chemist. In cooperation with the Louisiana State
Board of Health, they used a State laboratory boat to acguire the shrimp
from the fishing area and they subjected them to different conditions.
Following this, they were canned at a New Orleans cannery.

The experimental packs were of the usual type: sound fresh shrimp
and shrimp in various stages of decomposition. The participants visited
the fishing areas to obtain shrimp as fresh as possible and even witnessed
the catching of shrimp in several instances. The examination of these
packs revealed that the abnormal odors previously noted related very closely
to decomposition in various stages. There were also some early studies in

reference to indole content of decomposed shrimp.
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Now being eguipped with necessary background data and information
correlating odors of canned shrimp to decomposed raw material, FDA
embarked on a regulatory program which resulted in many seizures.

Because of the numerous seizures made as the result of examination
by New Orleans personnel, the Administration thought it wise to carry
out a check program with the Washington personnel who were involved in
preparation of the experimental packs. Therefore, early in 1932, N.E.

reeman and E. C. Boudreaux went to Washington and spent over a week in
joint examination of samples with Messrs. Hunter, Linden and Strasburger.
This session demonstrated that the examiners were all in agreenment.
Therefore, the sampling and seizure campaign continued unabated.

The FD3 1934 Annual Report disclosed that, during the fiscal year
ending July 1, 1934, 483 official samples were examined involving 59
canneries, Shrimp from 26 canneries were found in vielation. Sixty-
eight seizures resulted. In spite of the continued attention given the
industry for some years, fundamental correction of causes for violation
had not been accomplished. These were principally: (1) Packing of éBrimp
which had been carelessly handled or kept so long that decomposition
resulted; (2) Use of inadeguate processing times and temperatures; (3} Poor
sanitary conditions in most plants; and (4) Eguipment being used that
could not be adeguately cleaned.

These seizures were costlp to the packers and aroused a desire for
some sort of plant inspection which would insure the packing of a satis-
factory product. The packers became greatly concerned and interested
the Congressmen of their States in their problem; and Section 104, the
Seafood Amendment of the 1906 Food & Drug Act, was enacted in June 1934,

The Amendment was promptly signed by President Franklin D. Roosevelt.
Edwin C. Boudreaux was summoned to Washington to assist, along with
Dr. Hunter and C. W. Crawford in the draft of the first regulations. In
those days, the Administration was located in the earlier quarters (of
U.5.D.A.) which were not air-conditioned and, therefore, far fram comfortable
in July 1934. This work required in excess of one week involving night
sessions and finally the early draft was prepared. Although Boudreaux had
to spend a hot July 4th away from the "cool" sunny séu;h,ehe remembers it

as a pleasant interlude from the arduous task of regulation making. Through
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the kindness of Mr. and Mrs. Charles Crawford, he spent the day at their
home in Virginia. Although the weather was warm, Charlie's Mint Juleps
were out of this world.

The Seafood Amendment provided that any packer of seafoods whose
product was intended for sale within the jurisdiction of the Food & Drug
Act could apply for inspection service. It also authorized that packers
operating under this ingpection could label the food to show that it had
been packed under such inspection. Among other things, the amendment
had a penalty clause providing for fines and imprisonment for any person
who forged, counterfeited, simulated or falsely represented or, without
proper authority, used any mark, stamp, tag, label or other devices
authorized by the Act.

Although this inspection service could be granted to any seafood

industry, only shrimp and oyster canneries availed themselves of it.
In later years, it was extended to other forms of Shrimp. At first, the
initial service period was for nine months with provisions for extensions.
Later, it was made a 12 month service. The inspection service was purely
voluntary, thus, differing from Meat Inspection. It provided for assign-
ment of full time inspectors to each plant.

The regulations provided that, before inspection could be granted,
certain minimum conditions of equipment and facilities, based on the best
possible practices, be required. FPlants were required to be addquately
protected from insects through proper screening. Suitable inspection belts
and adequate devices to clean the raw material and remove any oljectionable
seafood must be provided. .Tops of picking and packing tables, wash tank
flumes, blanch tanks, brine tanks and all utensils for handling shrimp
were required to be of metal or some other smooth, hard, non-porous
material (other than lead) so that such equipment could be easily cleaned.
Conveyor belts had to be of material easily cleaned and non-porous. Web-~
type belts were not satisfactory. Therefore, belts either of metal or
covered with a smooth coating such as rubber were the only ones permitted.

Adequate supplies of steam and clean unpolluted water for cleaning
equipment were required. Toilet facilities of a sanitary type and wash
basins with soap and paper towels for use of employees with appropriate

signs had to be provided. Also required was equipment for sanitfzing




&y

Page 5.

utensils. The canneries had to have devices for code-marking containers
and instruments to record times and temperatures in connection with
processing the canned article.

Once an establishment applied for inspection and was found to meet
the required physical conditions, ome or more inspectors were assigned
to it. Inspectors saw to it that the basic cenditions were majntained and
also the regulations covering actual operations were observed. FPlants
were not to operate in the absence of the inspector and the entire manu-
facturing process had to be under his supervision. Shrimp catching boats
had to keep the product fresh by icing down at time of catch and maintain-
ing refrigeration until delivery to the cannery. Condemned shrimp had
to be destroyed or denatured. Fishing boats and other conveyances
furnfshing seafood to the canneries had to be clean and sanitary, and
also had to be thoroughly cleansed after unliocading. Such conveyances
and boats were expected to accept only seafood in good conditian and
maintain this until delivery. Adegquate lighting was reguired #Ho pe{Tit
inspectors to perform their duties and also to permit employees to function
properiy. Sanitary conditions on unloading platforms and in other parts
of the plants had to be maintained. The seafood was required tio be handled
expeditiously throughout the process. All employees handling seafood were
required to wash their hands after each absence from duty and practice
clean habits. Packers were forbidden to knowingly employ anyone in the
canneries afflicted with infectious or contagious diseases, etc. All
containers of the finished product were required to be marked with code-
marks showing at least the date of pack and other information. After
being placed in containers, the product was regquired to be procéssed in
acceordance with definite processes as set forth in the regulatiéns.

After being packed and processed, labels used had to be préviously
approved by FDA. At first labels were required to bear the legend,
"Production supervised by the U.5. Food & Drug Administration". Some
years later, the use of the legend was made voluntary since soma packers
wished to market canned products packed by uninspected packers as well as

their own under the same brand.
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In addition to requiring that only fresh sound shrimp packed under
sanitary conditions and adequately processed, the product was reguired to
meet all other regquirements of the regulations and the FDC Act. Inspectors
were provided with balances to check the net centents periodically after
cans were filled and before they were capped. Any lot that was short of
the required weight had to be labeled "slack filled"” as well as with the
correct net weight of the particular lot. This happened only infreguently
since the situation could often be corrected before can lids were applied.
Sizes of shrimp were checked to prevent any misbranding in that respect.

If excess amounts of broken shrimp were being packed, this was noted and
when shrimp were labeled, an appropriate label statement was reguired.
After shrimp were camned, they were usually stored unlabeled in the cannery
waretouse or in a commercial warehouse. Sometimes, they were sold to other
canneries. If unlabeled shrimp were stored in other than the cannery where
packed, a warehouse permit was issued. After the shrimp were labeled, it
was required that an inspector check the record to insure that an aQEroved
label was used and that such label correctly described the shrimp in the
cans. The inspector then issued a certificate of inspection.

A short time after the first draft of the regulations, C. W. Crawford
met with the packers at New Orleans. All packers were invited, and the
meeting was well attended. A full discussion of the regulations occurred,
and Mr. Crawford answered any guestions put to him.

At first only a few applications for inspection were received. Three
canneries in Biloxi started operations at the beginning of the season.
However, because of the sales advantage these firms enjoyed from inspection,
other applications Sooﬁﬁfollowed and a total of 22 firms operated under
inspection that season. Plants were located in (Georgia, Alabama, Louisiana
and Texas. A total of 306,854 standard cases of shrimp were padcked.

In order not to burden New Orleans Station with the organization and
setting up of inspection, FDA assigned Malcolm R. Stephens from Minneapolis
Station to take the task with cooperation of members of the New Orleans
Station. Lawrence W. Strasburger, a Washington bacterioclogist, with much
experience on canpned shrimp, was assigned to assist in development of

of technical supervision.
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The first inspectors appointed were given six weeks temporary
appointments since there was no certainty that the service would last.
Since it later developed that the service was not temporary, the
appointments were extended and made permanent. Since at first the initial
inspection period paid for by the packers was nine months, Inspectors
were subject to furlough during the non-packing season. Fees for exten-
sion of service beyond nine months as well as additional fees for the
amount packed were also reguired. In order not to work a hardship on
small packers, Congress in 1935 passed an annual $40,000 appropriation
to help defray the cost of the service. This appropriation was renewed
for several succeeding years. As time went on, furloughs were discontinued
and inspectors with gqualifications as chemists were assigned ta wvarious
statibns. Others were given regulatory Food & Drug inspecticon duties, etc.
at various places. Also, some packers extended their packing season and
some years later, oyster inspection was inaugurated which helped the
situation. -

In the early vears of inspection, it was relatively easy to recruit
highly qualified people. The depression was still on and many men with
degrees in chemistry and other sciences were available. A numbéer even
had PhD's in Chemistry. All this proved valuable. Soon the inspection
service became a recruiting pool for chemists, Food & Drug Inspgctors,
administrative employees, etc..

Many former seafood inspectors rose to prominent regulatory positions
as the years passed. All this added to the burden at New Orleans of
securing replacements. During World War II, because of the scarcity of
men as well qualified, the reguirements had to be lowered. Apbéintments
in all branches of service had to be War Service. Those who remained
after the war had to either gqualify for permanent appointment or lose
their positions.

The extensive changes required in equipment and operations at the
time inspection began indicate clearly the reason why such a volhme'of
regulatory operation on canned shrimp was necessary in the past. Inspectors
expressed great pride in the better conditions prevailing in inspected

plants.
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During the early days of inspection, many problems arose and many
arguments with packers resulted. Some thought the regulations and enforce-
ment were too strict. Regulatory work continued since some packers not
under inspection continued to pack an objectionable product. Gradually,
the number of packers taking inspection increased. After approximately
a year, Mr. Walter Campbell, Chief of the Administration, decided that the
direction and supervision of this service should be placed on the two
stations, namely, New Orleans and Atlanta. Mr. Stephens was appointed
Chief Inspector at New Orleans to replace George H. Eigenberger, who had
retired because of bad health. In the New Crleans area, Mr. L. W. Stras-
burger became Chief Supervisor and was assisted by other supervisors. At
first two assistant supervisors were needed at New Orleans, but as the
packfincreased, three were needed for some years. One was stattioned at
Biloxi, one at New Orleans, and another covered the Houma area.

A supervisor from the New Orleans Station was sent to cover plants
in the Atlanta area. He was later followed by such supervisory inspectors
as A. E. Rayfield, Shelby Grey, Ernest Aderholdt. At New Orleans,
inspectors who later served as supervisors were Sam Ogelsby, Walter
McRae, Kenneth McClure, Shelby Grey, Ernest Aderholdt, H. L. Allen,

Corwin L. Knowles, LaVega Shelton (also part-time as bacteriologist
during slack season). In later years others were Angelo Malone, John
Graham and Hershel Howell. :

Strasburger and Knowles resigned in 1945 and the duties of the chief
supervisor were added to those of the Chief Inspector Bryan L. Eggerton
who had had, in addition tb regulatory work on shrimp, experience as a
temporary plant inspector during a period in the early days when the service
was short-handed. He had also participated in the training programs for
newly appointed seafood inspectors.

After a short time, a fully equipped bacterioclogical laboratory was
established at New Orleans in which all samples collected for checking
the sterility of the canned product were examined. This relieved the

bactericlogy laboratory in Washington of a large amount of routine work
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which it had done in the very early years of inspection. Walker Loving,

a bacteriologist who had had some seafood inspection‘experience, was
assigned to this task. At times others assisted him. When he transferred,
others such as Travis Love, LaVega Shelton, succeeded him. Also about

the early 1940's, a regulatory chemist with bacteriology gualifications,
James Hyndman, was assigned te the laboratory since much regulatory work
such as that on fresh crabmeat resulted in a heavy workload for that
purpose. This laboratory was maintained until a few years ago when it was
discontinued and bacteriology work concentrated in the Dallas District.

In the 1936-37 fiscal year, canneries taking inspection teotaled 50
with a pack of 887,567 standard cases of 48 cans each. The next year,

51 canneries packed 1,187,421 cases. 1938-39 was also a banner year,
41 pé;kers - 1,085,289 cases.

While some of the following years yielded fairly good packs,
there was a gradual decrease in the size of packs during the 1940's. This
was partly due to less packers taking the service, but alse influenced
greatly by the growing pack of non-canned product such as frozan,raw,
headless.

In 1951-52 inspection was extended to shrimp other than canned,
packed in plants which had camned shrimp inspection service. That year
31,323 1bs. were so packed.

In 1952-53 service was offered to plants who packed only shrimp
other than canned, but there was little interest in setting up the service.
Although regulations were prepared for this service, only one firm, the
Jekyll Island Packing Co.,‘Brunswick, Ga., which packed principally frozen
and breaded shrimp, operated under the service for a few months during that
year. A supervisor, Angelc Malone, was transferred there to serve as
plant inspector.

At first, inspection was limited to canned shrimp since the big
problem appeared te be with shrimp. However, the seafcod amendment
provided that inspection could be given to any seafood. During the early
days of the inspection, there existed some Interest on the part of salmon
packers, and the Administration went so far as to hold a meeting with the

packers to discuss regulations. However, inspection in this area never
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materialized. In the following years, the New Orleans Station began to
direct its attention to the possibility that decomposed canned oysters were
being packed. Most of the canned oysters were packed in the plants also
packing canned shrimp, although parts of the plant and equipment were

used only for oysters. Experimental packs developed methods for the
detection of decomposition as had been in the case of shrimp. After
regulatory work on canned oysters became routine and a number of seizures
made, some interest then was shown by packers in securing oyster inspection.
Regulations were drawn up in 1943 and oyster inspection service Inaugurated
January 4, 1944. This was fortunate since oysters were packed during the
months when there was little or no shrimp canning. Of course, many changes
in equipment used solely in oyster canning had to be made, but Since most
plants already had shrimp inspection, this was not a difficult task. Before
inspection, the raw shell oysters were not washed before steaming. Most
oysters came from muddy bottoms and were quite muddy when they arrived

at the plants. The canners, with suggestions from FDA, can companies,

etc., developed a squirrel cage type of washer which did a rathér good

job of cleaning the oysters.

Of course, initial inspection like shrimp inspection was on the boat
or other conveyance before unloading. However, after washing, the oysters
traveled over an inspection belt which enabled the inspector to judge
whether they were fit and also allowed for a sorting by trained plant
personnel. It was first thought that oysters which were gapers (shells
partly open) were a means of judging a load. It was reguired they be
removed on the sorting beliji Further investigation, partly as a result of
complaints from some packers, caused a study to be made. It was found that
all gapers were not decomposed and that some oysters with closed shells
were decomposed.

While inspectors continued to consider excessive gapers as a sign
of hag Jloads, a system was set up where plants were required to furnish
personnel to open oysters for periodic examination by inspectors to insure
a better system of judgement.. Condemned ocysters were not required to be
destroyed, but allowed to be returned for re-bedding where nature eventually

remedied the situation.
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During the first season of oyster inspection, 30,478 cases of 48 canrs
each were packed by 7 plants. The largest pack was in 1952 when 12 plants
packed 114,792 cases. Unlike canned shrimp, the size of the oyster pack
was relatively good for most seasons. Only during the last twp years of
the service did it fall below 30,000 cases. That is easily attributed to
the fact that in 1956 only 7 packers applied for all forms of inspection
and probably all did not can oysters. Also, inspection was withdrawn
from two plants. In 1957, only two plants took the service. §ince no
applications for inspecticon were received for the next season, the
inspection service was terminated.

We can only speculate why interest in continuing the service
decreased until it was terminated; however, for what it is worth, the
following factors may have contributed:

(1) As economic conditions improved, it became increasingly difficult to
recruit well gqualified personnel to do a job such as was reguitred subject
to frequent transfers. Somehow, this may have had some influence on the
packers' feelings. -
(2) L. W. Strasburger, who performed outstanding service in ordganizing,
supervising and maintaining the service, resigned to enter private
enterprise about 1945. He was strict but enjoyed the popularitty of both
the packers and the Administration. After his fjirst venture with a firm
who had devised a crabmeat picking machine failed to be satisfactory, he
set up an inspection and consulting service for seafood. This did not
involve the continuous presence of an inspector but he and others in his
employ regularily visited plants under his supervision. Undoubtiedly, this
was popular with the packers because it cost less and since most felt FDA
inspection was too strict. They welcomed a service that did not have
somecne continuously looking over their shoulders, etc. This does not
mean any criticism of the FDA service. It had to be good or it wouldn't
have lasted as long as it did. It is not known how many piants‘took
Strasburger's service. Also, Mr. Strasburger represented the packers as
an expert when trouble with FDA occurred. In time, he has been recognized

in many other countries as an outstanding man in his field.
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In addition, one or two other individuals tried to set up private
service, but were not successful or of long duration. After FDA inspection
ceased, another Government agency offered some form of service which may
still be in existence. It is not known how successful or how many subscribed
to it. One of New Orleans former seafood inspectors, a bactericlogist,
Travis Love, was the leading light in this endeavor and alsoc set up a
research center on all seafopd and fish at Pascagoula, Mississippi.

FDA Seafood Inspection was indeed worthwhile although it lasted only
23 years. Actuvally, 23 years enabled FDA to witness much improvement.
Cannes shrimp and oyster packing was in deplorable condition before the
service was inaugurated. .'Sanitation, the gquality of raw material, processing,
all advanced greatly as a result. Most packers who dropped FDA service
contfgued to operate in reasonable compliance. Some employed former sea-
food inspectors to advise and render a degree of supervisory cantrol.
Others, as stated before, subscribed to a consultant service.

Seafood came 4 years before the enactment of the 1938 Food, Druw and
Cosmetic Act. Before that, insanitary conditions could not be acted
against unless filth or decomposition could be demonstrated in official
samples.

Seafood inspection produced a liberal number of regulatory Food and
Drug Inspectors and Chemists. The "know-how" that these inspectors acguired
on sanitation practices and teéchniques proved to be a very valuable asset
when the 1938 Act became effective in dealing with and checking insanitary
practices in food establishments. This included not only manufacturers
but also warehouses. The technigues acquired were not only useful to these
inspectors, but alsc those who never worked on seafood inspectitns.

Very important work was done in New Orleans, as well as elgsewhere, in
connection with filth and insaniftary conditions in warehouses and factories.

In these early operations under the 1938 Act, former seafood inspectors
played a large role. During World War II, numerous actions were taken in
connection with large amounts of food stored under reprehensible insanitary
and filthy conditions in New Orleans. The wholehearted support in this
work was received from the Food & Drug Section of the Loq;siana State Board

of Health and the City Health Department. CooPerativé‘iHSPections were
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made and many condemnations were made on the spot by State authorities,
thus resulting in prompt action and the need for less Federal seizures.
Naturally, warechousemen did not like this at first and complaints concern-
publicity of the actions were received by the Administration. Both

Mr. Forbes of the State Food & Drug Section and the writer were upheld

by the Administration and so most of the filthy flour and other products
were destroyed by the State in addition to Federal seizures.

Warehousemen soon realized that insanitary and poor construction
conditions resulted in tremendous losses, even if such enforcement had
not occurred. Improvements in warehousé buildings and better handling of
stored food began immediately. After the heat died down, a number of
warehousemen were quite complimentary of our actions which caused them to
greatly improve conditions thus reducing or eliminating losses c¢aused by
rodents, insects, etc.

Of course, it is realized that this campaign did not complétely
remedy the conditions, and the work continued in other areas with respect
to warehouses and manufacturing plants and as is known, is still a large
problem.

Because of the establishment of a bactericlogy lab at New Orleans
for seafood purposes, this enabled New Orleans to conduct some very
satisfactory investigations and work on other products where prompt
bacteriological examinations are reguired in order to insure seilzure
before goods are distributed.

While many foods were subjected to this type of examination, work
on crabmeat was the most important. When insanitary conditions were noted
in the plants, samples from shipments were collected at time of shipment.
In this way, we often had results from bacteriological examination in time
to seize the product at destination. Of course, before 1938, without
laboratory examinations showing confirmed results on E. coli, we were
powerless to take any action on crabmeat even though seriously viclative
insanitary conditions were found.

Although some regret existed and probably still exists that FDA
seafood inspection was discontinued, it marked a great milestone in the

history of Food and Drug enforcement.



NEW ORLEANS DISTRICT

PART I. INTRODUCTION & ORGANIZATION

bumr;;;;n“&. Boudreaux

Priorrto 1906, branch laboratories of the Bureau of Chemistry were in
operation at six major ports including New Orleans. Their function was to
examine imports under a March 1, 1889 law,

With the enactment of the 1906 Food & Drug Act, these field laboratories
increased in number until in 1909, there were 19 spread over the country. In
1806, Food and Drug Inspectors were appointed and assigned throughout the
country. They operated independently under the supervision of a Chief Inspector,
Walter G. Campbell.

In 1914, three inspection districts were created and both field laboratories
and inspectors placed under their supervision. These Districts wefXe the
EFastern, first at Washington, then moved to New York; the Central, at Chicago;
and the Restern at San Francisco.

Six of the smaller laboratories including Galveston were discontinuved.
Laboratory furniture from Galveston was moved to New Orleans to expand facilities
here. The New Orleans laboratory,probably a one room lab and office, was
moved from the third floor of the Customhouse to the second (before my time).

The enlarged quarters consisted of a large office, Room 225, a large laboratory
room 226, and a smaller room 227 that served as a storeroom. Over ithe years,
our space expanded several times in size, and more after my retirement.

In 1917, Food and Drug Inspection Stations were created in the three districts
from the former laboratories. Boundary lines were established for each and
one man was placed in charge of both laboratory and Inspection work in each
station territory. At the time there were 17 stations. One at Kansas City
had no laboratory until 1926 when N.E. Freeman, a chemist from New Orleans was
assigned to open it.

The territory of the New Orleans Station included 4 states, Texas, Louisiana,
Mississippi and Alabama. In May 1929, that part of West Texas including the
Panhandle with a line south from the Eastern side of the Panhandle, to the
Rio Grande was transferred from New Orleans to Denver since it could be more
readily covered from that station. _

A later change was the transfer of three Florida counties in the Pensacola
area to New Orleans, from Savannah station. When that station was moved to

Atlanta in 1934, these counties were transferred to Atlanta. -

I,"
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than Station headgquarters. New Orleans had one at Houston, Texas. The Houston
post was discontinued about 1928-29 because total number of inspectors was small
and this very experienced man's services could be more efficiently utilized here.
Alsc by that time, a Naval Stores inspector was located at DeRidder, La., and
was able to handle assigmments in South Texas and Southwest Louisiana. The
Houston post was re-established about 1932 when the inspector at DeRidder, who
had gained much experience in Food & Drug work, was moved to Housten. Also, a
few years later a one man laboratory was set up at Houston to examine imports
entered through Texas ports.

Additional Inspection posts were established in later years at ballas,
Birmingham, and Shreveport, La. They will be described under Staffling.

The 1927 reorganization in the Department of Agriculture creatdd the Food,
Drug, and Insecticide Administration (later called. the Food & Drug Administration).
Its mission was to enforce the Food and Drug Act, Naval Stores Act, Insecticide
and Fungicide Act, The Tea Act, Caustic Poison Act, and the Import Milk Act.

This change added 3 Naval Stores inspectors to New Orleans statfon. Theg-
were stationed at Daphne, Ala., Gulfport, Miss., and DeRidder, La. Their
primary duties were to grade Rosin, a service feature, and do regulatory work
under that law.

Two of these weré€ .not fully occupied with Naval Stores duties and were given
training as Feod and Drug Inspectors.

The next change that greatly affected New Orleans was the establishment of
Seafood Inspection Service in 1934.

In 1940 the Food and Drug Administration was transferred to the Federal
Security Agency. Enforcement of the Naval Stores and Insecticide and Fungicide

Acts remained in Agriculture.

s
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The big change in FDA came in 1948 with the abolishment of the -three
districts. The stations were renamed Districts, and reported direct to
Washington. Station Chiefs were designated as District Chiefs and, in
January 1960, as District Directors. The same year, Dallas District was

established, resulting in transfer of Texas to the new district.

LUs



NEW ORLEANS DISTRICT

PART II. STAFFING

Compiled bu
Edwipnn C. Boudrcaux

When I reported May 8, 1922, the Station Chief was Robert §. Hollings-
head. Other personnel were: Hugh McComber, chemist; George K. Elgenberger
(Houston), John Y. Breckenridge, Regionald Smith, Inspectors; Gladuys Hinshel-
wood (now Barbier), Raoul Navaille, Clerks; Paul Parrino, Laboratory Helper.
Hollingshead had succeeded Frank W. Liepsner who resigned to operate a
private laboratory. Charles W. Crawford later Commissioner and Fred Elliot .
are known to have been chemists in New Orleans. Previous inspectors known
to have been here were Hugh Hennessey later at Minneapolis and William
Hartigan later Chief of Kansas City Station. A Miss Brooks, a clelrk, resigned
shortly before 1922. Channing Harrison later a Chief at Minneapollis is
believed to have been an early laboratory chief at New Orleans. In this report
only key personnel except for special reasons will be listed after 1935 because
the repo;t would be too lengthy and because names of many are not available to me.

Hollingshead transferred to Washington early in 1923. Albett L. Burns,

a Chemist from St. Louis Station, became Chief at New Orleans. Burns became
111 in September 1924 and died in late 1925. I had served as Acting Chipf
during absence of Station Chiefs since sometime in 1922. When Burns became
ill, I carried out the duties of Station Chief and shortly before his death.
was designated as Acting Chief. I was promoted to Station Chief in September
1930. Until Januvary 1930, my official title was Chemist at various grades,
and that month my official title became Acting Chief.

Prior to my appointment as-Junior Chemist in 1922, I had bedn employed
as a Chemist by Parke Davigs & Co., Detoit, Bogalusa Paper Co., Bogalusa, La.
and Penick & Ford, Harvy, La. At the time my appolintment was approved, I was
teéching science, mathematics and history at Jennings, La. High School. Frank
W. Liepsnor, president of Louisiana Section, American Chemical Soéi&g, suggested
I apply for the position with the Bureau of Chemist.

For lack of accurate information, some dates regarding personnel will

be approximate.

s
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Hugh McComber transferred shortly after I reported. Ralph i. Horst
filled the vacancy in July 1%22. He transferred to Chicage October that
year, and back to New Orleans in 1925. Newell E. Freeman replaced Horst
early in 1923 and transferred to Kansas City to open the laboratory there
in 1926. He was later moved to Chicago and later back to New Orlsans, about
1929, Maurice Harris, Chemist, came to New Orleans in 1925. He transferred
to Washington in 1928 or 1929 to do research. Harris resigned but was re-
instated at Chicagc about 1932, A year or two later, he was moved to Houston
to open a laboratory for the purpose of examining imports through Texas ports.
The laboratory was discontinued about 1950. Harris transferred to New Orleans
and retired in 1960.

Horst was transferred to New York early 1931 to handle import work.
Freeman remained at New Orleans until] his transfer to Atlanta in 1B35.

Ernest C. Deal was transferred as a Chemist at New Orleans from an
Inspector position in Chicago in 1928. He proved to be one of the most
versatile chemists New Orleans ever had. Not only was he an expert in the
drug field, but he excelled in food chemistry. His organoleptic ability was
so good that it was almost uncanny. He could almost predict the composition
of a table syrup by tasting. He became a supervisory chemist in later ééars
and for a period served as a Food & Drug officer.

There were about two other chemist in the 1920's whose names are not
recalled who resigned after short periods.

To f£ill vacancy created by Smith's resignation, Paul Prickett was appointed
late 1922 or early 1923, remained about three years and resigned for further
education. Francis Usher succeeded him, but resigned in 1928 to study medicine.
John L. Ahern, an experienced inspector from another station filled the Usher
vacancy. Ahern was moved to St. Louis about 1932. Bryan L. Eggerton replaced
Ahern by transfer from Chicago in 1932.

Two of the three Naval Stores Inspectors assigned to New Orleans in 1927
after training were doing considerable food and drug inspection wortkk. They were
George A. Berry and Sidney Pickens. Berry was sStationed at DeRidder 7. . olc rns
at Daphne, Alabama. Berry was soon deing more Food and Drug Inspections than
Naval Store Work. He was moved to Houston to reopen the resident post made

vacant by transfer of Eigenberger to New Orleans.

e
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John Y. Breckenridge was transferred to Philadelphia in 1936. George
Eigenberger served as Chief Inspector from the time of his transfer to New
Orleans until his retirement in 1935 because of ill health. Eigenberger was
a very able inspector. He did not mind travel. His trips fregquently lasted
over a month. He excelled in his ability to train others including training
of State and local men. He fostered state and local cooperation wherever he
traveled. As a result of this many official samples were collected by co-
operating inspectqrs which would have been otherwise impossible with our small
staff. I learned a great deal about inspection work while traveling with him
during my first year.

Mr., Muriel Gnagy transferred to New Orleans to fill the Horst vacany
in 1931. He was considered our first Chief Chemist. Our chemist gtaff was
increased to five about 1932 with the appecintment of églvan Falck and H.S.
Haller. Gnagy transferred to Los Angeles in early 1935,

Clerical personnel remained at about three uyntil 1934 when a
clerk was added for Seafood work. )

About June 1922, Irma Delord was appointed as a clerk but resigned a
short time later after marriage to Chemist Ralph Horst. Other clerks inmthe
period 1922-1934 were Mrs. Elsie Ward and Thelma Appel. Mrs. Ward retired in
late 1940's and Miss Appel resigned about that time.

Paul Parrino, Laboratory Helper, resigned late in 1927 to study medicine.
In addition to his duties as helper, he did some import work not reguiring
chemical examiniation. Oliver W. Phillips replaced Parrino. He wafs the senior
sub-professional until his retirement in 1962 with the title of Storekeeper,
Clerk. Emile Davis, now Sample Custodian, came to us in the mid-forties.
Another oldtimer still on duty is Louis Miles. Both Davis and Miles are
especially remembered because of good sense. of humor and ever willingness to
lend a helping hand.

A listing follows of those who served in key positions as well as others
who are listed because of their valuwable contributions to the operation of the
District.

CHIEF CLERKS (later other titles such as Administrative Assistants)

Gladys H. Barbier, appointed in 1919 in effect Chief Clerk before 1922,
but title was not used until 1930's. She retired in 1958,

103




Clara Breaux, appointed as Seafood Clerk in 1942.

Part II,.Page 4.
She latdr transferred

to Regulatory Work, Secretary to District Director, Administrative Assistant

1958 until retirement after 1965.

8

CHIEF INSPECTORS

George H. Eigenberger - 1929-1935

Malcolm Stephens - 1935-1938 (See Seafood Report)
George T. Daughters - 1938-1942

Chester T. Hubble - 1942-1943

E.R. Moberg - 1943-1944

Bryan L. Eggerton - Acting 1944-1945
Chief Inspector 1945-1960

CHIEF CHEMISTS

Ralph L. Horst, Acting 1926-1930
Mr. Muriel Gnagy - 1931-1935

Roy Pruitt - 1935-1938

Raymond Vandeverr - 1938-1942

Dr. Harley 6. Underwood - 1942-:;944
Ernest C. Deal -~ Acting 1944-1950
Reo E. Duggan - 1950-1960
Richard Huermann - 1960-1964
Helen Barry - 1964-1971

RESIDENT INSPECTORS

Houston:

H. Eigenberger before 1922-1329
A. Berry - about 1952—1941

Weldon R. Durrenberger - about 1945-1953
ﬁ. Moses - 1948-1960

P. Smith - 1960-?

Walter

Eugene
Dallas:

Bryan L. Eggerton, First resident 1936-1939

Vaughn Kelly - 1939-about 1941

Lorenzo Johnson - about 1941-1943

William L. Prillmayer — 1943-1944 and 1952-1956

Wilbert Breaux - 1944-1952

Eugene Spivak - 1956-13960
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San Antonio:
WWzlter R. Moses 1942-1945 (Post discontirniued 184%)
Birmingham, Ala.:
william L. Prillmayer - 1944-1946
Euclid T. Gulledge - 1946-1958
Harold D. Lee - 1958-1961
Euclid T. Gulledge - 1961-1671
Gulledge suybmitted to Atlanta District a rather complete history of the
Birmingham post, copy iIs attached.
Shreveport - Boland B. Sheperd - Several years in 1950°'s. Post discontined.

Heavy load of work at Dallas and Houston required at times temporary
assignment additional inspectors. Also for several years until 1953, two
inspectors regularly assigned at Houston.

There were no Food and Drug Officers, as such, until Moses designation
as Assistant Chief in 1945. From 1935 to 1945, the Chief Chemist or Chief
Inspector and sometimes other experienced personnel assisted the Station
Chief when necessary and Acted as Chief in his absence. Import work for many
years was a part of the laboratory operations under general direction oglthe
Station Chief. Later the Admnistrative part of Import operations was

handled by a Food and Drug Officer.

FOOD AND DRUG OFFICERS

Walter R. Moses (Assistant Chief) 1945-1948
Reo E. Duggan (Assistant Chief) 1948-1950
Ernest C. Deal (Acting) 1950-about 1953
William Robertson (Acting) about 1953-1955
William K. Hays - about 1956-1969

Donald Henson - about 1963-1966

SUPERVISORY CEEMISTS

E.C. Deal - 1935 to after 1965 except 1950-1953 when Acting
as Food & Drug Officer. He retired because of ill health

SUPERVISORY INSPECTORS

W. XK. Hays - ]955-]956 (Approximate)

Forrest Aull and Harold Lee ~ exact dates for Aull not recallied.
Lee is known to have been designated 1961 and Aull was probably
already performing this duty. They both later transferred and
were replaced by John Gomilla and Clarence Loucks who remained
until after 1965.

L4
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There was rapid growth in personnel beginning in 1934. A Cenkral
District Roster darted 1939 showed a total of 70.There were 10 chemists,
@ inspectors, B clerks, 1 bacteriologist (assigned to Seafood), 38 Seafood
inspectors, and 3 miscellaneous (laboratory helpers). Another roster either
1940 cor 1941, showed total of 71. When I retired the total was about 90.
WOMEN CHEMISTS

Before World war II, there were no women chemists at New Orleans.

There may have been one or more at New York and San Francisco. Theé reason .
for this is not clear. In the early years, chemists were expected to operate

as Iinspectors on occasion, Alse, not many women were seeking careers as

chemists. During the early seafood years, seafood inspectors served as a

recruiting pool for chemists, inspectors and bacteriologists. Shortly before

the war it became nearly impossible to find well qualffied men on the chemist
registers. More women were majoring in Chemistry.

our }irst woman chemist was Mary Elise Warren, & Dominican College grad-
uate. Miss Warren was outstanding. _

After some experience, she was assigned to import duties under immediate
supervision of the Chief Chemist. She not only proved that she was a goed
chemist, but demonstrated administrative ability at a time the Station was
swamped with greatly increased importations because of war-created ronditions.
Miss Warren resigned after the war and moved away. Her appointment was followed
by Genevieve Modica and many other women. Another excellent woman ghemist was
Gladys Meunier who resigned for marriage, but later was employed by;Louisiana
State Health Department and has headed their Food and Drug lab for many years.

Another outstanding woman chemist who is still with the Adminigtration is
Helen Barry, now in Washington. She probably was the first woman Chief Chemist
at any District. Her record is well known not only for her analytigal ability,
but for administrative work. -

Jean Arnoult Gaul, now a supervisory chemist, was calied to my attention
during her senjor year at Loyola by my son, a sophomore in chemistry, as being
an outstanding student. I contacted her and she was appointed after graduation
in 1955. Her record and ability are well known.

At the time of my retirement, there were at least seven women chemists at

New QOrleans District.
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OTHER POSITIONS

Keith Horard became New Orleans first Administrative Officer whout 1257.
When he transferred, he was followed by Paul J. Dugas, transferred from an
import inspector position.

C.C. Freeman, the district's first microanalyst, appointed July 1957,
is still with the District., His appointment proved very fortunate., His
record of innovative accomplishments in developing and adapting new methodology
in this work has been ocutstanding. A book could be written about his accomp~
lishments in his field.
BACTERIOLOGISTS

bacteriology
Seafood inspection made it necessary to install a, laboratory for this

work. Walker Loving and others from Seafood also participated in this operation.
The work was not restricted to Seafood inspection, but we were enabled to
accomplish a great deal of progress in this field on regulatory prdagrams.

Jamés B. Hyndman, Kent Smith and others held positions as bacteriologists,
but were appointed as regulatory employees. To me, it is sad that the
bacteriology operations have been discontinued hefe. We were the leaders in
the field operations and as other districts moved to new buildings, bactgriology
labs were set up.

Before closing, it is well to mention others who had long and rewarding
careers at New Orleans.

John Weeks appointed Seafood Inspector in 1937, transferred to the
laboratory as a chemist. He was outstanding in perseverance and instrumental
work. He retired in 1976.

John Hurst appointed as a Seafood Inspector. He remained in this
position until end of service in 1957 & Yetired a few years later after
working as a regulatory inspector.

CLERKS

Patricia Steger - 1950-]976. Very capable and well liked. Sebretary
to me and other Directors. Also excellent legal secretary.

Catherine O'Brien (Kittie) appointed 1944, retired 1966. Very efficient
stenographer and legal secretary.

Catherine (Katie) Gadmer was appointed about 1939, retired 196%. She

did accounting and other clerical work.

v
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When I retired in 1965, it was a far cry from the 1920's when our
staff never exceeded 12. Station chiefs in addition to their duties as
such exercised immediate supervision over both laboratory and inspection
operations. Most of us also were directly involved in examiniation of
some samples particularly where organoleptic tests were made. Sometimes
we did inspectiocnal work.

Although it has not been possible to include all who were associated
with me from 1922 to 1965, their contributions to the work and their loyalty
to me and their overall dedication is greatly appreciated. Without their
cooperation as well as those listed, I am sure the New Orleans District
would not have attained the degree of success It enjoyed.

I am also grateful to all the State and local officials we worked with
over the years. My special gratitude goes out to Eugene Holeman of
Tennessee {(not even a part of New Orleans District) who joined me in
establisﬁ}ng the Gatlinburg Conference in 1956. Everyone knows that it was

successful from the start and has become an outstanding planning maeting,

S



NEW ORLEANS DISTRICT

PART III. NEW ORLEANS OPERATIONS 1922-1930

Compiled by
Edwin C. Boudreaux

The report on New Orleans 1822-1965 will by ne means be a complete
description of events during the period. Much information is not readily
available. If it were, the report would be too lengthy.

PLANNING

The project system of planning was developed prior to 1922. These were
prepared principally at conferences in Washington in which the three Districts
participated. The Stations used them for general guidance, but at first did
not implement them with written plans of their own.

the Station depended greatly on its knowledge of the Food & Drug industry
gained by factory inspections and other means.

Stations were also assigned general surveys regardless of origin of products.
Some of these were called common food surveys during which each station sampled
a given food. Other surveys were more general in that all stations sampled the
product such as ether. In some cases where serious violations were known to
exist, it was necessary to develop pfocedures and methods before eflfective
regulatory work could be undertaken. As far as we_were concerned, iraw oysters
and canned shrimp were early examples. When dangerous products were widely
distributed even in the eary years, all Stations participated in the work of
removing them. Much dependence was placed on assistance from cooperating agencies.

In later years, planning became more specific and stations began to commit
their own plans to writing. ]

During these early years. emphasis was placed on economic violations in
the case of food. Inspectors carried Gurley Balances and at times a bulky
device to weight large packages.- A special Gurley balance for weighing number
10 cans and other packages of equivalent size was developed from suggestions
by Inspector Eigenberger. Table syrups were examined for adulteration and
misbranding. 2 common food survey during the mid-1920's involved roasted
coffee. Strange as it may seem, coffee prices were high. This caused some
roasters to use chicory, roasted cereal, and dried used coffee groumds without
proper labeling to disclose the addition. One hundred twelve samples were

examined by New Orleans from Central District firms. Many seizures resulted.
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In the New Orleans territory, a prevailing practice was to add water

(usualily ice) to shucked oysters and sell them by count instead of volume.
New Orleans began work in 1922 to rectify this practice. In the fall of 1922,
I examined a number of authentic raw oysters, some from the plants and others

from oyster beds.

The adulteration was so gross that we decided field examiniations might
correct it without the need for laboratory work.

Beginning ir January 1923, I traveled with Inspector Eigenberger on visits .
to shacking plants to observe their practices first hand. These trips gave me
an opportunity to see other seafood packing operations such as shrimp and
oyster canning.

We later visited interstate consignees at Mobile, Birmingham, Houston, 